Kinship Local Offer

Our Approach to Supporting and Promoting the Needs of Children and Young People Living With Family and Friends Carers

January 2025



Contents

1	Introduction	3
2	Purpose and scope of the offer	4
3	Statement of values, principles and objectives	5
4	Private and Informal arrangements for Children in Need: Definition 4.1 Early identification and intervention 4.2 Assessing informal arrangements 4.3 Supporting Family Time 4.4 Financial Support 4.5 Private Fostering arrangements	6
5	Public arrangements for Children who are Looked After 5.1 Family and Friends	10
6	Information and support	12
7	Further Services	12
8	Complaints	14
9	Glossary of terms	14
9	Useful Contacts	16
10	Appendix	17

1. Introduction

There are times when some parents are unable to look after their children for a variety of reasons, whether it is as result of crisis, resolved quickly, or for a much longer time. In most cases parents are able to make informal arrangements with relatives or close friends to care for their children. These arrangements are entirely reasonable and can afford less disruption to their children's lives, than being cared for by strangers. Children can be cared for in a variety of different arrangements:

- ✓ In informal family and friends care arrangements
- ✓✓ In a private fostering arrangement
- ✓✓ Family and Friends foster carers –'Connected Persons'
- ✓✓ In a placement under a Child Arrangements Order
- ✓✓ Special Guardianship Order
- ✓✓ Adoption order

For a full summary of the meaning and implications of different and legal situations, the rights of carers / parents and the nature of decisions, which family and friend carers will be able to make in relation to the child.

Please see Appendix 1:

Annex A: Caring for Someone Else's Child - Options

Oldham Council has published this Offer in collaboration with its local partners to ensure that the duties and responsibilities of families and friends in caring for children, the type of services available and where to find out more about these services are clear and readily available with dedicated kinship care pathways.

Outcomes are more likely to be positive for children living in kinship care, and considerably better than for children in unrelated foster care, e.g. the children are more securely attached to their carers, feel that they belong with their carers, and are confident they will be staying.

Research has identified that family and friends carers can enhance the emotional and behavioural development of children, and children are generally reported to feel more secure, happy and integrated into the family compared to children placed within "stranger placements". There is also research evidence that highlights greater placement stability and that these placements enable greater continuity and contact.

In implementing this Offer, Oldham aims to narrow the gap in outcomes for children from disadvantaged backgrounds placed in family and friends care and to support their carers with effective interagency support.

RELEVANT GUIDANCE

<u>Children Act 1989: Family and Friends Care</u>: Statutory Guidance for Local Authorities about family and friends providing care for children who cannot live with their parents.

Championing Kinship Care: The National Kinship Care Strategy

<u>Family Rights Group, Initial Family and Friends Care Assessment</u>: A Good Practice Guide outlines what a viability assessment for family and friend carers should look like, what social workers should consider and how to undertake international assessments.

<u>Looking After Someone Else's Child</u>: Government advice on the support and financial help you can get if someone else's child is living with you full time.

<u>Promoting the Education of Children with a Social Worker and Children in Kinship Care Arrangements: Virtual School Head Role Extension</u>: Non statutory guidance for local authorities about the development of Virtual School Head's strategic leadership role in promoting the educational outcomes of children in kinship care arrangements.

Keeping Children Safe, Helping Families Thrive:

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/67375fe5ed0fc07b53499a42/Keeping_Children_Safe__Helping_Families_Thrive_.pdf

The Offer links with Oldham's 'Early Help' approach whereby we want to provide support to families and communities to respond to problems before they get worse.

Oldham's Early Help Strategy sets out principles to harness support for families, children and young people. It also promotes individual, family and community resilience for everyone to 'do their bit', enabling self help and early intervention.

The council recognises that many of the children and those who apply to become family and friends carers will come from diverse ethnic, religious and cultural backgrounds, and/or may have particular disabilities, and that these factors must be taken into consideration when establishing the best arrangements for children.

Akin to all public 'Offers' it is subject to change over time and therefore will be reviewed and revised by the Council periodically to ensure that it remains up-to-date.

2. Purpose and Scope of the Offer

The purpose of the Offer is to provide guidance and information on how Oldham Council will support with its partners and local services, children and young people living with extended family friends or other people. These arrangements can be made informally by parents, or through the Council in the case of children who are 'looked after.'

Oldham Council will only become involved with such arrangements if there are welfare or protection issues with which the family needs help or intervention; or if the arrangements fall within the legal definition of private fostering, or if the child becomes 'looked after' by the Council.

This Offer is in two parts,

- 1. Informal or private arrangements for children where their parents or person with parental responsibility for them has placed their child or young person with relatives and friends when these are for children designated as 'in need.'
- 2. Public arrangements for children who are 'looked after,' that is the placement of children who are looked after by the Council, but are placed with their

family, or relatives and friends.

Management Accountability

The senior manager in the Council with responsibility for this Offer is Nick Whitbread – Assistant Director – Corporate Parenting.

3. Statement of Values, Principles and Objectives

The underlying principal is that children should be enabled to live within their families unless this is not consistent with their welfare. We will therefore work to maintain children within their own families, and facilitate services to support any such arrangements, wherever this is consistent with the child's safety and well-being. This principal applies to all children in need including those who are looked after by the Local Authority.

Where a child cannot live within his or her immediate family, we will make strenuous efforts to identify potential carers within the child's network of family and friends who are able and willing to care for the child. We will provide support for any such arrangements based on the assessed needs of the child, not simply on his or her legal status. We will seek to ensure that family and friends carers are provided with support to ensure that children do not become looked after by the Local Authority, or do not have to remain looked after longer than is needed. The majority of family friends living arrangements do not need the support of the Local Authority. The majority are established independently between the child's parent(s) and the family / friend carer. The Local Authority should not become involved with these arrangements unless it is deemed necessary to safeguard and promote the welfare of the child or becomes a private fostering arrangement (please see private fostering section).

When the Local Authority does become involved in the arrangements for a child living with or going to live with family or friends — this should be based on a thorough assessment of the child and the family or friend. Children's Services will work in partnership with children and their families in planning and decision making about their future care.

It is essential for the legal basis under which the child is living is clearly stated, confirmed in writing and understood by all parties.

This Offer reflects the 'No Order' principle of the Children Act 1989, 'the aim ...of the Children Act 1989...is to ensure that an Order is granted only where it will positively improve the child's welfare', (Children Act 1989 Guidance and Regulations, Vol. 1).

Where it is assessed that a child cannot remain with, or, return to their birth parents, then care by Family & Friends carers, or Family & Friends Foster Carers ('connected persons') will be the placement of first choice to meet these needs, provided this is consistent with the child's welfare.

Every child has the right to have the opportunity to develop secure attachments to carers who are capable of providing safe and effective and loving care for the duration of his/her childhood, so that child can thrive and develop.

Under these circumstances, the carers should be advised and supported to obtain an appropriate legal order giving them legal responsibility for the child through a **Child Arrangements Order**, **Special Guardianship Order** or **Adoption Order**. (see Appendix 1 for more details)

Support should be based on the needs of the child rather than merely their legal status and should seek to ensure that family and friends carers (whether or not they are approved foster carers) are provided with support to ensure that children do not become, voluntarily accommodated by the Local Authority under section 20(1) of the Children Act.

4. Private and Informal Arrangements for Children in Need

Definition

The Government's Statutory Guidance defines private or informal family or friends care arrangements as arrangements made by birth parents for the full time care, nurture and protection of their children, living apart from them with their family or friends. In most cases responsibility will remain with the birth parents, although the day to day tasks and duties of care will devolve to the family members or friends.

In some instances, these arrangements fall within the definition of private fostering and Oldham Council is required to become involved by the regulations; or it may be the case that the Council needs to become involved to promote the welfare or safeguard the child and prevent them from becoming 'looked after'.

Children cared for under private/formal arrangements are **not** 'looked after' by the Council and may be made as follows:

- √ Children placed with close relatives ⁽Close relatives are defined as stepparents, grandparents, brothers, sisters, uncles or aunts whether of full blood, half blood or marriage/affinity) by parents at their own initiative.
- √✓ Children placed with close relatives by parents with the arrangements facilitated by and with the support of the Council, for example as an agreed safeguarding measure.
- ✓ Young people aged over 16 years who are living voluntarily with a relative some exceptional circumstances apply to this.
- √ Children and young people placed with friends or non-close relatives by parents for a period less than 28 days.
- ✓✓ Children and young people placed with friends or non-close relatives for over 28 days become privately fostered under Private Fostering regulations.

If children and young people are being privately fostered by friends or non-close relatives, the birth parent or the private foster carer has a duty to notify Oldham Council, Children Social Care of their intention by contacting the Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub on 0161 770 7777.

4.1. Early identification and intervention of private/informal arrangements

The majority of these private arrangements work well and meet the needs of children and young people with the support of universal agencies such as health and education services. It is important however that any difficulties are responded to early.

Children may have particular short or long term needs pre-existing the arrangements, or as a consequence of the circumstances that prompted them. They may react to their new living situation for a variety of reasons adversely.

Services should not be withheld because a child is not living with its birth parents and is in a private fostering or informal arrangement. Support needs to be available when necessary and targeted to the child's needs. The Family Rights Group found that the help that family and friends carers reported they wanted included financial and practical support, information and advice, opportunities to meet with other carers, access to universal and targeted services and help to the child.

It is important to identify those children and their carers who may need help and support as soon as possible in order to ensure that their care is safeguarded and maintained. Therefore, partner agencies, such as children's centre's, health and education services have a key role to play in identifying and supporting children who are living with family or friends carers. Further service offers is available in Section 7.

4.2. Assessing informal arrangements

It is important for birth parents and informal carers to understand that Oldham Council will only assess the needs of children living informally with family or friends carers when it is necessary to safeguard and promote the welfare of the child, or where the Council is obliged to meet the requirements of private fostering regulations. This assessment will be undertaken by the social work teams.

The Local Authority has a duty to safeguard and promote the welfare of Children in Need living within its area and to promote the upbringing of such children by their families. The way in which we fulfil this duty is by providing a range and level of services appropriate to those assessed needs (Section 17, Children Act 1989) This can include financial, practical or other support.

In such cases where social work teams undertakes an assessment, it will advise the parents, (or those with legal parental responsibility), it's likely timescales and possible outcomes, and provide information about other possible help and support that might be suitable to their circumstances and situation.

It is equally important that if and when the social work teams become involved in an assessment of the child's needs within the informal arrangements that everyone involved is clear from the outset of the child's legal status and the responsibility of the birth parents.

The Council will make every effort to support the arrangements where it is in the child's best interests within the resources available to it.

The Statutory Guidance for Family and Friends Carers makes it clear that a child should not become looked after by a council, whether by agreement with those holding parental responsibility, or through application to the Court for an order for the **sole** purpose of enabling financial, practical or any other assistance or support.

When the Council decides that a child is in need and requires support to remain with family or friends carers then the child will be the subject of a **Child in Need plan**, or a **Protection plan**, depending on the situation prevailing.

The child in need plan will agree practical and other support, including financial support to be provided to the child, under the provisions of Section 17 of the Children Act 1989 to the child's carer. It will also identify the role and responsibility of the Child's parents.

When such avenues have been exhausted, or it appears to the Council that maintaining any such informal arrangements does not meet the child's best interests, then the Council will decide whether to explore with the birth parents a voluntary arrangement for the Council to look after the child under Section 20 of the Children Act 1989, or seek from the Court a care or supervision order under Section 31 of the Children Act 1989. A Care Order will materially affect the legal status of the child.

It may be that such arrangements for the child are of short duration and that the child is able to return to its birth parents' full care with or without the continuing support of the Council. However, where the arrangements are likely to be long term, then the Council will consider in detail the issues of permanency planning and the child's legal status to secure the child's long term interests.

Family and friend carers may need to seek independent legal advice about the best option for their child and themselves.

4.3. Supporting Family Time

The authority is under a duty to promote Family Time for all Children in Need, although this differs depending on whether or not the child is Looked After.

Where the child is not Looked After, we are required to promote contact between the child and his/her family 'where it is necessary to do so in order to safeguard and promote his or her welfare'. As part of the support arrangements, it may be identified that specific assistance is required to ensure that any such contact can be managed safely. If necessary, information will be made available to family and friends carers about local contact centre's and family mediation services, and how to make use of their services.

Information in relation to contact may be available from the following organisations:

Organisation	Contact No.	Other contact
Pro-Contact	0161 737 8996	Email: enquiries@pro-contact.org.uk
Grandparents Plus	0300123 7015	www.grandparentsplus.org.uk
Family Rights Group	0808 801 0366	www.frg.org.uk
Oldham Family Information Service		www.oldham.gov.uk/info/200534/family_information_service
Citizens Advice	0300 330 9073	www.oldhamcab.org.uk
Kinship.org		https://kinship.org/

Where a child is Looked After, we are required to endeavour to promote Family Time between the child and his or her family 'unless it is not practicable or consistent with the child's welfare'. The overall objective of the Family Time arrangements will be included in

the child's Care Plan and reviewed by the Independent Reviewing Officer.

4.4. Provision of Financial Support – General Principals

There are three categories of payment, which may be considered. One or more of these may be applicable, depending on the particular circumstances of the case:

1. Subsistence crisis (one-off) payments

These should be used to overcome a crisis, following the best assessment that can be achieved in the circumstances;

2. Setting-up

These are for such items as clothing, furniture, or bedding. The social worker must be satisfied that the carers' financial position justifies the payment through a financial assessment. Assistance may be given subject to conditions, including repayment in certain situations. However, in most situations, it will be inappropriate for the Department to seek to recover money provided under these circumstances.

3. Weekly living contribution

It is possible for the Local Authority to make regular payments where family members or friends care for a child whether or not the child is not Looked After. Where regular payments are to be made, relative carers should be assisted to maximise their Income/Benefit as regular payments may adversely affect an individual's claim to income support.

In all cases where regular financial support is agreed, a written agreement will be drawn up detailing the level and duration of the financial support that is to be provided, and the mechanism for review.

The following criteria will be applied to all such payments:

- The purpose of the payments must be to safeguard and promote the welfare of the child;
- As part of the assessment, a view should be taken as to whether the carers need financial support based on their reasonable requirements in taking on the care of the child:
- There are no other legitimate sources of finance;
- Payments will be paid to the carer, not the parents;
- The payment would not place any person in a fraudulent position.

4.5. Private Fostering Arrangements

Where a person with parental responsibility makes arrangements for their child to live with family or friends that fall within the Private Fostering Regulations or the arrangements come to fall within the regulations the parent and carer have a duty to notify the Council

of the arrangements. The Council has a duty to satisfy itself that children fostered privately are safe and their welfare promoted and therefore its social work staff will assess and decide whether the arrangements are suitable to meet the child's needs. Carers will be offered advice and information as they need.

Any financial arrangement is made between the private foster carer and the parent(s) and will not involve the Council. These arrangements should be included in a written agreement.

Private foster carers may be able to claim child benefit and if applicable child tax credit and disability living allowances, if these are not being paid to the parents.

If private foster carers are already claiming benefits, they will need to inform the Department for Work and Pensions.

Only in exceptional circumstances will consideration be given to support the child under Section 17 and the circumstances must meet the Council's criteria of eligibility for help under Section 17 of the Children Act 1989.

It is important that partner agencies, especially those in Health and education services, remain alert to the needs of children who are living in private fostering arrangements and, where they have knowledge of such arrangements, advise Oldham Council accordingly so that it might fulfil its legal duties to both the children and the carers. Partner agencies are expected to treat with the children and their carers sensitively and be alert to their particular needs. Further service offers is available in Section 7.

5. Family and Friends Foster Carers – 'Connected Persons'

Where a child is looked after by the Local Authority, we have a responsibility wherever possible to make arrangements for the child to live with a member of the family who is approved as a foster carer (Section 22 of the Children Act 1989). The child can be placed with the family members prior to such approval, subject to an assessment of the placement, for up to 16 weeks. This temporary approval can only be extended in exceptional circumstances. In this context the carer is referred to as a Connected Person and the process of obtaining approval for the placement is set out in the Placement with Connected Persons Procedure. Where temporary approval is given to such a placement under the procedure, the carers will receive financial support on a regular basis.

Financial support will be provided to the connected person by way of a fostering allowance for each of the looked after children in their care. The amount will be determined by the age of the child and paid to the carer on a weekly basis. An initial clothing allowance can be requested, agreement for this will be at the discretion of the Team Manager. Birthday, Christmas and holiday allowances will be available to the carer if the child resides with them during that period. A mileage allowance will be paid for travel in relation to the child's needs.

Allowances for school uniform, school trips and activities can also be requested in line with that of mainstream foster carer's allowances. This information is detailed in the Foster Care Payment Guidance which will be provided to the connected person at the time of the placement being made.

In addition the child will have a placement plan drawn up by the child's social worker and the fostering social worker that sets out the specific arrangements surrounding the child and the carers including the expectations of the foster carers and the support they can expect to receive to enable to fulfil their responsibilities for the child.

The assessment and approval process for family and friends who apply to be foster carers for a specific Looked After child will be the same as for any other foster carer except that the timescales for the assessment are different where a child is already in the placement as indicated above. In all other respects the process is the same as for any other potential foster carers. An information pack will be available to potential foster carers about the process and they will be given the name and contact details of the social worker from the Fostering Service allocated to carry out the assessment.

Full assessments of connected person's foster carers are carried out by the fostering social workers. A full range of safeguarding checks will be carried out and the assessment is presented to the Fostering for recommendation to the Agency Decision Maker. This should be within sixteen weeks of the Approval on Regulation 24 Connected Person. If the assessment has not been completed it is presented to the panel with a request for an eight week extension.

Once approved as foster carers, they will be allocated a supervising social worker from the fostering service to provide them with support and supervision; and they will receive fostering allowances for as long as they care for the child as a foster carer.

While the child remains a looked after child, as a foster carer, they will be expected to cooperate with all the processes that are in place to ensure that the child receives appropriate care and support, for example, contributing to reviews of the child's Care Plan, cooperating with the child's social worker and promoting the child's education and health needs.

On approval, family and friends foster carers will receive a copy of the Oldham Council's Fostering Handbook and will be asked to sign the Council's Foster care agreement which details the expectations of carer to meet the fostering service regulations and the National minimum standards. They will also be expected to complete their Training, Skills and Development work books within 18 months of approval, in order to evidence standards are met.

In order to be able to achieve this, family and friends carers have equal access to the training opportunities afforded to non related carers

Newly approved family and friends carers also have the same access to the Foster Care Forum, support groups, training and financial support as non related carers. For full details please see the Councils payment guidance for foster carers.

5.1. Special Guardianship Order and Adoption

Special Guardianship offers a further option for children needing permanent care outside their birth family. It can offer greater security without absolute severance from the birth family as in adoption.

Relatives may apply for a Special Guardianship Order. As Special Guardians, they will

have parental responsibility for the child which, while it is still shared with the parents, can be exercised with greater autonomy on day-to-day matters than where there is a Child Arrangements Order.

Special Guardianship Orders may be made in private family proceedings and the Local Authority may not be a party to any such arrangements. However, a Special Guardianship Order in favour of a relative or foster carer (who was a 'Connected Person') with whom a child is living may be an appropriate outcome as part of a permanence plan for a Child in Need or a 'Looked After' child.

Where the child was Looked After immediately prior to the making of the Special Guardianship Order, the Local Authority has a responsibility to assess the support needs of the child, parents and Special Guardians, including the need for financial support.

Financial along with other support needs will be assessed by the worker responsible for the preparation of the Special Guardianship Report and Support Plan.

Adoption is the process by which all parental rights and responsibilities for a child are permanently transferred to an adoptive parent by a court. As a result the child legally becomes part of the adoptive family.

An Adoption Order in favour of a relative or foster carer (who was a 'Connected Person') with whom a child is living may be an appropriate outcome as part of a permanence plan for a Child in Need or a 'Looked After' child.

Local Authorities must make arrangements, as part of their adoption service, for the provision of a range of adoption support services. They then have to undertake assessments of the need for adoption support services at the request of the adopted child, adoptive parents and their families, as well as birth relatives. The support required is then set out in an Adoption Support Plan and this may include financial support.

6. Information and Support

Oldham Council's Family Information Service provides information and support to access universal child care resources such as early years provision, day care and out of school services, schools and colleges, health services, leisure facilities and youth support services. The service also has information for leisure activities and other short break provision for children with disabilities.

The contact details of the service are available from <u>Family Information Service | Oldham Council</u> or email : familyinfo@oldham.gov.uk.

7. Further Services

Family Decision Making Service

Family Decision Making meetings held between professionals and family members, which aim to achieve the best outcomes for children. They promote the involvement of the wider family to achieve a resolution of difficulties for Children in Need, and may help to identify

short-term and/or permanent solutions for children within the family network.

We have trained Family Workers who can deliver Family Decision Making meetings; we offer this Service or other form of family meetings at an early stage. If a child becomes Looked After, perhaps following an emergency, without a Family Decision Making meeting having been held, then (where appropriate) we will arrange one as soon as possible.

Where a family or friends carer is not satisfied with the level of support provided to enable them to care for the child, then they have access to the Local Authority's complaints process. Our aim would be to resolve any such dissatisfaction without the need for a formal investigation but where an informal resolution is not possible, then a formal investigation will be arranged.

Education Services

Information regarding Education services for Early Years, Schools and Post-16 Education is available here: <u>Education | Oldham Council</u>. Information available here includes a Directory of existing services and activities available to families across the borough.

The Local Authority's Virtual School has an extended duty to promote the educational needs of children in Kinship Care who are subject to either an SGO or Child Arrangements Order but may not have previously been looked after. Working with and supporting all relevant partners and where required providing advice and guidance to parents / carers and wider professionals. There is a designated officer within the Virtual School to support queries.

Special Educational Needs Support and Education, Care & Health Plans

For children and young people identified as having Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND), settings will take action to remove barriers to learning and put into place effective special educational provision through a graduated response. A graduated response will be undertaken which draws upon the four-part cycle of assess, plan, do and review. During this cycle approaches are revisited, refined and revised building on a growing understanding of learners' needs and the support needed in helping them to make good progress and secure good outcomes. This toolkit is designed to support professionals to improve accessibility and remove barriers to learning by making reasonable adjustments through high quality teaching and targeted support as part of the graduated response. The guidance is set out below for Early Years, Schools and post 16 settings.

https://www.oldham.gov.uk/grt

For children and young people with an Education, Health and Care Plan, all settings and families are allocated a named SEND Officer to offer support throughout the EHC needs assessment process and EHCP process. Named SEND Officers can be found here: https://www.oldham.gov.uk/downloads/file/5572/allocated_send_officers_by_schoolwards

The Oldham Local Offer provides information on what is available in Oldham for children and young people and their families with special educational needs and/or a disability (SEND).

The Local Offer has been produced by children, young people, parents, carers, and practitioners working together. Families have been engaged throughout the development of the Local Offer and feedback forms are a fundamental part of its ongoing development.

https://www.oldham.gov.uk/info/200368/children and young people with special educ ational needs and disabilities

Youth Justice Services

Youth Justice Services support children who have committed an offence / at risk of offending to make positive changes to their lives. This includes children in Kinship situations. Youth Justice Services advocate for the child and hear their voice regarding where they wish to live, or not to live and work with professionals to ensure that living arrangements are safe and agreed in the best interests of the child.

Housing

The Council's Allocations Policy gives additional preference, Band 1 (the highest band) to households recognised as Kinship carers with a need to move to a larger property to accommodate the child(ren) being supported.

Mental Health Services

Babies, children and young people living in Kinship settings have access to Pennine Care Foundation Trust's wider CAMHS offer including Oldham CAMHS, Community Eating Disorders Service North, Oldham Young People's Mental Health Support team, Oldham Early Attachment Service, Young People's Specialist Support Team, Crisis Pathway and Greater Manchester assessment and Inreach centre. The referral criteria for each service can be found here https://www.penninecare.nhs.uk/oldham. Oldham CAMHS offer a Thinking Families Group that is currently part of the attachment pathway. This group is designed to give birth parents/family members an opportunity to understand their child's experience of relationships, how this has shared their relationships them, their brain development etc and share some therapeutic parenting approaches. This offer is in development, at the moment consultation to professionals/carers is the main offer.

Early Break is an emotional health and wellbeing service provides support to any child or young person who are, or have been looked after, by Oldham local authority around their emotional health and wellbeing. Early Break works with anyone aged from 5 up to 25.

The majority of support from Early Break is delivered through one to one work, on a face to face basis, however also offer drop ins and group work and can provide support online if this is more appropriate or preferred. Early Break offers consultations and pre-referral discussions, support, advice and interventions with social workers, parents, foster carers, education staff, health care workers and anyone else who is involved with the child or young person.

Any child or young person can access support from the point of referral through the drop in offer, whilst they wait to be allocated for one to one support. Every child or young person is also introductory session at point of referral to encourage use of the drop in, whilst they are on the waiting list.

8. Complaints

When a family or friends carer is not satisfied with the level of support provided to enable them to care for the child, then they have access to the Local Authority's complaint process. Our aim would be to resolve any such dissatisfaction without the need for a formal investigation but where an informal resolution is not possible then a formal investigation will be arranged.

Full details can be found at

www.oldham.gov.uk/info/200143/complaints and feedback

9. Glossary of Terms

Connected person is a relative, friend or other person connected with a child. The latter is someone who would not fit the term 'relative or friend', but who has a pre-existing relationship with the child. It could be someone who knows the child in a more professional capacity such as (for example) a child-minder, a teacher or a youth worker."

Private fostering is when a child under the age of 16 (under 18 if disabled) is cared for by someone who is not their parent or a 'close relative'. This is a private arrangement made between a parent and a carer, for 28 days or more. Close relatives are defined as step-parents, grandparents, brothers, sisters, uncles or aunts (whether of full blood, half blood or marriage/affinity).

Children in need are defined in law as children who are aged under 18 and:-

- need Local Authority services to achieve or maintain a reasonable standard of health or development
- need Local Authority services to prevent significant or further harm to health or development
- are disabled

The Framework for the Assessment of Children in Need and their Families provides a systematic basis for collecting and analysing information to support professional judgements about how to help children and families in the best interests of the child.

Section 17 of the Children Act 1989 (s17) defines the duties of a Local Authority in safeguarding and promoting the general welfare of a child in need and her/his family within their area.

Assistance given to families under S17 includes financial assistance

A Child Arrangements order decides where the child is to live and with whom. The granting of a child arrangements order to someone automatically gives him or her parental responsibility for the child if they do not already have it.

Parental Responsibility obtained as a result of a Child Arrangements Order will continue until the order ceases. Parental Responsibility is not removed from the parents but they are limited as to how they exercise this. A Child Arrangements order lasts until the child is 16 or 18 if the circumstances of the case are exceptional and the court has ordered that it continue for longer.

A Special Guardianship Order is an order appointing one or more individuals to be a child's "Special Guardian" It is a private law order made under the Children Act 1989 and is intended for those children who cannot live with their birth parents and who would benefit from a legally secure placement. It is a more secure order than a Child Arrangement Order because a parent cannot apply to discharge it unless they have the permission of the court to do so, however, it is less secure than an Adoption Order because it does not end the legal relationship between the child and his/her birthparents.

10. Useful contacts

Service Name	Contact	Details
Oldham Family Information Service	Family Information Service Oldham Council	Help, advice and support for parents and carers of children and young people aged 0 – 19 years old (25
British Association for Adoption and Fostering (BAAF	Tel: 020 7421 2600 www.baaf.org.uk	years with SEND) Information about adoption and fostering
Directgov	www.direct.gov.uk	Website offering advice about a range of sites relating to family, finances and benefits

Family Rights Group	Advice Line: 0808 801 0366 www.frg.org.uk	Providers parents and other family members whose children are involved or required children's social care services because of welfare needs or concerns. Publishes resources, helps develop support groups and runs a discussion board.
Fostering Network	Tel: 020 7620 6400 www.thefosteringnetwork.org.uk	The Fostering Network is a charity working throughout the UK to promote and improve the quality of foster carers.
Grandparents Plus	Tel: 0300 123 7015 advice@grandparentsplus.org.uk www.grandparentsplus.org.uk	Advice and information service and champions the role of grandparents
Kidscape	Tel: 020 7730 3300	Helpline for young children who are being bullied
NSPCC – Chlid Protection Line	0800 800 5000 (freephone) www.nspcc.org.uk	Helpline for children and young people
NHS	Tel: 111	Health advice
Somebody Else's Child	www.privatefostering.co.uk	Advice about private fosteirng

ANNEX A: CARING FOR SOMEBODY ELSE'S CHILD - OPTIONS

	Private fostering	Family care (informal)	Family and friends foster care	Unrelated foster care	Child Arrangements Order	Special guardianship order (SGO)	Adoption
Route into the caring arrangement	This is a private arrangement whereby the child is being cared for 28 days or more (or the intention is that the arrangement will last for 28 days or more) by anyone who does not have parental responsibility, and who is not a close relative. Relative means grandparent, brother, sister, uncle or aunt (by full blood, half blood or by marriage or civil partnership) or a step parent. The child is not a looked after child.	The relative has chosen to take on the care of the child but does not have parental responsibility, and the arrangement was not made by the Local Authority. The child is not a looked after child. Relative may perceive the parents to be unable to care for the child; or the parents may be dead or otherwise not available (e.g. in prison); or there may be an agreement between relatives due to difficult family circumstances.	The child has been placed with the relative or friend by the Local Authority, because the person who had been caring for the child was deemed not to be providing suitable care. The child is a looked after child and so the Local Authority must approve the relative or friend as a Local Authority foster carer. The child may be accommodated voluntarily with the agreement of the parents or may be subject to a care order.	The child is a looked after child being accommodated by the Local Authority under section 20 Children Act 1989 or because the child is subject to a care order; but has been placed with a foster carer by the Local Authority. (Alternatively, the Local Authority may choose to place a child into residential care where this is considered to best meet the child's needs).	The child may be at risk of become a friend or relative applies for an another child may have been 'looked carer or other relative/friend application in either circumstance, application the support of the parents or the Relatives may apply for an order with them for one year. Or, there can be benign reasons death and in line with a prior agricultation between the carer.	order, or d after' and their foster lies for an order. on can be made without Local Authority. r after the child has lived	Looked after children: the LA may decide that the child should be placed for adoption. They can only do so with the consent of the birth parent or under a placement order made by a court. An approved foster carer can apply for an adoption order after a year of caring for the child. Other informal carers could apply for an adoption order if the child has lived with them for a period of 3 years.
Parental Responsibility (PR)	Remains with birth parents	Remains with birth parents but the person who cares for the child may do what is reasonable to safeguard or promote the child's welfare	Remains with birth parents if child accommodated under section 20 CA, or if the child is subject to a care order or emergency protection order the Local Authority will have parental responsibility and determines the extent to which it may be exercised by others.		Shared by parents and holder of Child Arrangements Order.	PR shared with parents and any one else with parental responsibility for the child. The special guardian may exercise parental responsibility to the exclusion of all others with PR, apart from another special guardian.	Transfers to adopters and relationship with birth parents is severed.
Approval basis	The arrangement is assessed by LA, but the carer is not 'approved' as a Local Authority foster carer is. The arrangement may be prohibited if assessed by the Local Authority as unsuitable.	None	Approved as Local Authority fostowith Fostering Services Regulation carers must be approved as fost relative.)	ons. (If child is looked after,	Appointed by court following application.	Appointed by court, following application from the applicant. LA must investigate the matter and prepare a report for the court dealing with the suitability of the applicant to be a special guardian.	Adoption agency assesses and approves prospective adopters, court makes order regarding specific child. If the child is not looked after then notice of intention to adopt must be given to the LA who then carry out an assessment / report for the court.

	Private fostering	Family care (informal)	Family and friends foster care	Unrelated foster care	Child Arrangements Order	Special guardianship order (SGO)	Adoption
Duration	Subject to discretion of person with PR and readiness of private foster carer.	Subject to discretion of person with PR	So long as placement remains in line with child's care plan, as determined by LA		Age 18.	Age 18 unless varied or discharged by the court before the child reaches 18 years.	Permanent lifelong relationship
Placement supervision	It is not a placement, but there are statutory visits to child by social worker (minimum 6 weekly in first year, then 12 weekly)	None	Statutory: visits to child by social foster carers by supervising social			None	When child is placed for adoption by the LA, the placement is supervised and there are statutory reviews. Once the adoption order is made, none.
Review of placement	It is not a placement, but the LA may do formal reviews in addition to ongoing assessment during visits.	None	Statutory reviews of child's care and annual reviews of Local Auth approval		None	None	See above
Support services	Provision of advice and support as determined necessary by the LA, which may assess the child as a child in need, with a child in need plan, and provide services / support for child/family under section 17 of the Children Act 1989	No entitlement but the LA may assess the child as a child in need, with a child in need plan, and provide services / support for child/family under section 17 of the Children Act 1989	Support to meet child's needs including health plan and personal education plan. Training and practical support to foster carers in accordance with the Fostering services Regulations, NMS and Training, Skills and Development standards. Young person may be entitled to leaving care support services		No entitlement (But LA has discretion to provide services / support for child/family under section 17 of the CA)	If child was looked after prior to making the SGO, LA must assess for need for special guardianship support services. LA has discretion whether to provide support. Young person may be entitled to leaving care support services if was a looked after child prior to making of the SGO.	Entitlement to assessment for adoption support services, which may be provided at discretion of LA in accordance with Regulations and NMS.

	Private fostering	Family care (informal)	Family and friends foster care	Unrelated foster care	Child Arrangements Order	Special guardianship order (SGO)	Adoption
Financial support – entitlement	Can claim child benefit and child tax credit if not being paid to parent. Financial responsibility to maintain the child remains with holders of PR	Can claim child benefit and child tax credit if not being paid to parent. Financial responsibility to maintain the child remains with holders of PR. Guardians Allowance payable if both parents have died, or the only surviving parent cannot be found or serving 2 years or more prison sentence.	Child benefit and child tax cred Weekly allowance to meet the This should meet at least the n DCSF. Allowances must be the same or not family & friends.	costs of caring for the child. ational minimum rate set by	Can claim child benefit and child tax credit if not being paid to parent.	Can claim child benefit and child tax credit if not being paid to parent.	Can claim child benefit and child tax credit if not being paid to parent. Entitlement to assessment for financial support (part of adoption support) if child looked after prior to order.
Financial support – discretionary	LA has discretion to make one-off or regular payments under section17 Children Act	LA has discretion to make one-off or regular payments under section17 Children Act	Some fostering providers pay trecognise the carers' skill, expersional statutory Guidance for Fostering policy in relation to the payment all foster carers who meet the of must not discriminate on the grant relationship with the child.	erience and commitment. In Services requires that any left of fees must be applied to criteria in the same way and	LA has discretion to pay Child Arrangements Order allowance – usually if child was previously fostered by the carers, or exceptionally if making Child Arrangements Order prevents child becoming looked after. Any allowance reviewed annually.	Entitled to an assessment for financial support under the Special Guardianship Regulations 2005 if child looked after prior to order and meets the criteria in the regulations. Subject to assessment as above and for former foster carers can include an element of remuneration. Regular or one off payments. Any allowances reviewed annually.	Subject to assessment, one off payments or regular adoption allowance may be paid.